STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

J. C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

Jun 16 2020

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JOSEPH LAMAR BROWN, JR.

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-000781

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the trial judge err in failing to dismiss the charge of armed robbery against Appellant based upon a violation of his constitutional protections against double jeopardy where the first jury declared it had reached a unanimous verdict of not guilty on the charge?

II. Did the trial judge err by prohibiting evidence of third party guilt where Appellant identified a specific person as the assailant, the person matched significant details of the assailant provided by witnesses, the person's guilt was inconsistent with Appellant's guilt, the person lived within walking distance of the shooting scene and was found in the area of the shooting within hours of the shooting, and the person's jacket tested positive for gunshot residue?

III. Did the trial judge err by failing to suppress evidence secured by a search warrant where (1) the affidavit contained false statements, including that that Appellant "fits the physical description of the person fleeing the scene" when there was no single description and the descriptions available varied wildly, and (2) the affidavit provided merely conclusory statements regarding ownership of a cell phone found near the scene, and exclusion of these statements from the affidavit resulted in a lack of probable cause?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 11, 2017, a Charleston County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder (2017-GS-10-4077), burglary in the first degree (2017-GS-10-4081), armed robbery (2017-GS-10-4083), and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent offense (2017-GS-10-4079). R. 1154-1155; R. 1158-1159; R. 1161-1162; R. 1164-1165.

The state called Appellant to trial on June 11-14, 2018, before the Honorable Kristi Harrington and a jury. R. 567. The jury began deliberating at 12:18 p.m. on June 14, 2018. R. 1118. While deliberating, the jury had numerous questions. R. 1118-1119. One of the notes indicated the jury had reached a unanimous verdict of not guilty on armed robbery, but the jury was unable to reach unanimous verdicts on the other indictments. Supp. R. 1. In response, Judge Harrington instructed the jury pursuant to Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492 (1896). Supp. R. 1; R. 1119-1121. Nevertheless, the jury was unable to reach a unanimous verdict on the remaining charges, and Judge Harrington declared a mistrial. Supp. R. 1; R. 1122-1123.

The state, represented by D. Bruce Durant and Jason Heggelke, called the case for a second trial on November 5, 2018. R. 1. Teresa L. Norris and Taylor L. Seman represented Appellant. R. 1. In light of the first jury finding Appellant not guilty of armed robbery, the state recognized the weakness of its case as it pertained to the armed robbery charge. R. 202, l. 23 – R. 203, l. 9. Due to this weakness, the state requested a jury instruction on attempted armed robbery. R. 202, l. 23 – R. 203, l. 9. Ultimately, the second jury found Appellant guilty of murder, first degree burglary, attempted armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 533, ll. 2-22.

During the sentencing proceeding, Judge Nicholson questioned Appellant extensively regarding whether he accepted responsibility for the offenses. R. 541, ll. 7-8; R. 541, ll. 14-15.

Thereafter, Judge Nicholson sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole for murder, fifty years imprisonment for burglary, ten years for attempted robbery, and five years for the weapon. R. 543, l. 24 – R. 544, l. 19; R. 1156-1157; R. 1160; R. 1163; R. 1166.

Appellant filed a motion to reconsider his sentence. R. 1149. Judge Nicholson convened a hearing on the motion on May 8, 2019. R. 545. Durant represented the state, and Norris represented Appellant R. 545. Again, Judge Nicholson focused on whether Appellant accepted responsibility for the crimes. R. 549, ll. 6-8; R. 549, ll. 11-13. Despite defense counsel reminding Judge Nicholson of Appellant’s right review of his convictions and that any acceptance of responsibility would nullify the review, Judge Nicholson still questioned whether Appellant was entitled to a lesser sentence if he had not accepted responsibility for the offenses. R. 549, ll. 18-21. Picking up on the judge’s line of thinking, the solicitor argued Appellant was not entitled to a lesser sentence because he never showed “an ounce of remorse ... [and] never even accepted responsibility.” R. 555, ll. 3-5. When defense counsel objected to the state’s argument regarding Appellant’s failure to show remorse, Judge Nicholson claimed he was not considering whether Appellant was remorseful. R. 558, ll. 11-20; R. 561, ll. 17-18. On May 10, 2019, Judge Nicholson issued an order reconsidering Appellant’s sentences. R. 1151. He amended Appellant’s sentence for murder from life imprisonment to fifty-two years. R. 1151; R.1157. Appellant’s remaining sentences were unchanged. R. 1151.

On May 10, 2019, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred in failing to dismiss the charge of armed robbery against Appellant based upon a violation of his constitutional protections against double jeopardy where the first jury declared it had reached a unanimous verdict of not guilty on the charge.

Standard of review

“In criminal cases, an appellate court sits to review errors of law only and is bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” State v. Parker, 391 S.C. 606, 611, 707 S.E.2d 799, 801 (2011). The reviewing court “does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the trial judge’s ruling is supported by any evidence.” Id. at 611-612, 707 S.E.2d at 801. See also State v. Robinson, 360 S.C. 187, 191, 600 S.E.2d 100, 102 (Ct. App. 2004) (remarking “[i]n criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only”).

Relevant facts

When the state called Appellant’s case to trial on November 5, 2018, defense counsel moved to dismiss the armed robbery charge based upon double jeopardy. R. 11, ll. 2-16; Supp. R. 1. Counsel explained that “[d]uring the week of June 11, 2018, the state tried [Appellant].” Supp. R. 1; see also R. 11, ll. 2-4. At that time, “[t]he jury hung on the charges of possession of a firearm during a violent crime, burglary (first degree), and murder, but did reach a unanimous verdict of not guilty on the charge of armed robbery.” Supp. R. 1; see also R. 11, ll. 2-7. Defense counsel explained more fully that during its deliberations, “the jury returned five notes and the testimony of Hugh Potter Pritchard was replayed at the request of the jury.” Supp. R. 1. Most importantly, “[o]ne of those notes indicated that the jury had reached a unanimous verdict of not guilty on armed robbery, but was unable to reach unanimous agreement on the other indictments.” Supp.

R. 1. Subsequently, Judge Harrington instructed the jurors pursuant to Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492 (1896). Supp. R. 1; R. 567. Even after receiving the supplemental instruction, the jury was unable to reach a verdict. Supp. R. 1; R. 567. Judge Harrington declared a mistrial. Supp. R. 1; R. 567.

Additionally, after the first trial, defense counsel obtained affidavits from two jurors indicating the jury unanimously decided Appellant was not guilty of the armed robbery charge and never revisited discussion of that offense again during their deliberations. R. 12, ll. 8-11; Supp. R. 1. In fact, the foreperson had signed the form indicating the jury's verdict of not guilty on the armed robbery charge prior to the jury continuing its deliberations on the remaining charges. Supp. R. 1.

Judge Nicholson questioned whether anyone made a motion to accept the verdict when the jury revealed it reached a unanimous verdict of not guilty as to the armed robbery charge, and defense counsel candidly admitted she did not. R. 11, ll. 13-23. The judge found the jurors "thought they reached a decision," but the decision was "never ... documented by anyone." R. 14, ll. 23-25. Judge Nicholson found the jury's unanimous not-guilty verdict as to armed robbery "was brought to [the state's] attention, the defense counsel's attention, and the Court's attention ... by note." R. 18, ll. 11-14. Judge Nicholson asserted that "the time to have raised this was when the Foreman or Forelady, or whoever, announced that they had reached that verdict." R. 14, ll. 16-19. According to the judge, it was incumbent upon "[e]ither [defense counsel] or the state or the judge, or someone, ... to say I accept that verdict." R. 14, ll. 19-20.

Judge Nicholson denied Appellant's motion to dismiss. R. 93, l. 22 – R. 94, l. 5. He denied the motion because "no one raised that issue at the prior trial, ... [and] the time to have raised that issue was at the trial." R. 93, ll. 23-25. The judge reiterated that the jury's verdict on armed

robbery was not “raised by the Court or the solicitor or the defense counsel” and “was never accepted by the Court, documented by the Court.” R. 94, ll. 1-3.

Discussion

Both the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution protect individuals from being twice placed in jeopardy by the state. “No person shall be ... subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb.” U.S. Const. amend V.¹ “No person shall be subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or liberty.” S.C. Const. Art. 1, § 12. The Double Jeopardy Clause embodies two vitally important interests. Yeager v. United States, 557 U.S. 110, 117 (2009). The first is the “deeply ingrained” principle that “the State with all its resources and power should not be allowed to make repeated attempts to convict an individual for an alleged offense, thereby subjecting him to embarrassment, expense and ordeal and compelling him to live in a continuing state of anxiety and insecurity, as well as enhancing the possibility that even though innocent he may be found guilty.” Id. at 117-18 (quoting Green v. United States, 355 U.S. 184, 187-188 (1957)). The second interest is the preservation of “the finality of judgments.” Id. at 118 (quoting Crist v. Bretz, 437 U.S. 28, 33 (1978)).

“It is a rule of general recognition that one is in jeopardy when a legal jury is sworn and impaneled to try him, upon a valid indictment, in a competent Court, unless the jury before reaching a verdict be discharged with the prisoner’s consent, or upon some ground of legal necessity or the verdict, if rendered be set aside according to law.” Ex Parte Prince, 185 S.C. 150, 159, 193 S.E. 429, 433 (1937); see also State v. Baum, 355 S.C. 209, 214, 485 S.E.2d 419, 421 (2003). The guarantee against double jeopardy offers three separate constitutional protections: (1)

¹ The Fifth Amendment is made applicable to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment’s Due Process clause. Benton v. Maryland, 395 U.S. 784 (1969).

protection against a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal; (2) protection against prosecution for the same offense after conviction; and (3) protection against multiple punishments for the same offense. State v. Cuccia, 353 S.C. 430, 434, 578 S.E.2d 45, 48 (Ct. App. 2003); see also State v. Easler, 327 U.S. 121, 130 (1997) (citing Brown v. Ohio, 432 U.S. 161 (1977) (holding “The Double Jeopardy Clause protects against a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal or conviction and protects against multiple punishments for the same offense”). Further, under the law of double jeopardy, a person may not be prosecuted for the same offense after an improvidently granted mistrial. State v. Coleman, 365 S.C. 258, 263, 616 S.E.2d 444, 446 (Ct. App. 2005). The bar on re-trials after acquittal is “[p]erhaps the most fundamental rule in the history of double jeopardy jurisprudence.” United States v. Martin Linen Supply Co., 430 U.S. 564, 571 (1977).

“[I]t has long been settled under the Fifth Amendment that a verdict of acquittal is final, ending a defendant’s jeopardy, and even when not followed by any judgment is a bar to a subsequent prosecution for the same offense.” Green v. United States, 355 U.S. 184, 188 (1957) (internal quotation omitted). Essentially, “[f]or a jury note regarding the jury’s inability to reach a verdict to bar a subsequent prosecution after a mistrial, there must be some indication that the jury had finally resolved to acquit the defendant.” Traylor v. State, 567 S.W.3d 741, 744 (Tex. Crim. App. 2018). “[F]orm is not to be exalted over substance in determining the double jeopardy consequences of a ruling terminating a prosecution.” Sanabria v. United States, 437 U.S. 54, 66 (1978). “[W]hat constitutes an ‘acquittal’ is not to be controlled by the form of the judge’s action.” United States v. Martin Linen Supply Co., 430 U.S. 564, 571 (1977). The court “must determine whether the ruling of the judge [or jury], whatever its label, actually represents a resolution, correct or not, of some or all of the factual elements of the offense charged.” Id.

Appellant readily admits that typically a jury's verdict must be presented in open court and received by the court. "A verdict of a jury should be presented in open court by the jury, properly published, assented to by all the jury, received by the court, and ordered placed on record before the final discharge of the jury." State v. Bilton, 156 S.C. 324, 324, 153 S.E. 269, 273 (1930). However, in this case, the jury sent a note to the trial judge explaining they were unanimous in their decision to acquit Appellant of the armed robbery charge. The note expressed the jury's finality with regard to the armed robbery indictment. Further, the affidavits presented by Appellant in his motion to bar his re-trial explained the jury did not revisit the armed robbery charge after being instructed by the judge to continue its deliberations. Supp. R. 1.

Finally, and most importantly, the supplemental instruction given by Judge Harrington showed the jury did not reconsider its verdict on armed robbery. When giving the supplemental charge, Judge Harrington told the jurors that they "ha[d] been unable to agree on a verdict in this case." R. 1119. She explained that she had told them earlier that their verdict "must be unanimous." R. 1119. She instructed the jury "to make every reasonable effort to reach a unanimous verdict." R. 567. Thus, the jury was told to resume deliberating on the charges for which they were unable to reach unanimity. The jury was not instructed to deliberate further on the charge for which they had reach unanimity – the armed robbery charge. Therefore, the jury's verdict of not guilty on the armed robbery offense was its final determination on that charge.

At Appellant's second trial, the state relied upon the easily distinguishable case of Blueford v. Arkansas, 566 U.S. 599 (2012), in requesting the judge not bar the state from requiring Appellant to run the gauntlet twice on the charge of armed robbery. R. 18, ll. 15-21. The State of Arkansas charged Blueford with capital murder. Blueford v. Arkansas, 566 U.S. 599, 602 (2012). The jury was instructed to consider capital murder, first-degree murder, manslaughter, and negligent

homicide. Id. The judge instructed the jurors to consider first-degree murder if they had a reasonable doubt about Blueford's guilt on the capital murder charge. Id. Similarly, the judge instructed the jury to consider manslaughter if it had a reasonable doubt as to the first-degree murder charge. Id. Finally, the jury was told to consider negligent homicide if it had a reasonable doubt of Blueford's guilt of manslaughter. Id.

When the jury revealed that it was deadlocked, the judge inquired as to the votes on each offense. Id. at 603. The jury unanimously voted against capital murder and murder in the first degree, but was hung on manslaughter. Id. at 604. The jury had not considered negligent homicide yet. Id. The judge instructed the jury to continue deliberating. Id. Additionally, the judge denied Blueford's request for new verdict forms to be submitted to the jury on those counts for which they had reached verdicts. Id. Ultimately, the jury was unable to reach a verdict, and the judge declared a mistrial. Id. When the state subsequently sought to retry Blueford, he moved to dismiss the capital murder and first-degree murder charges on double jeopardy grounds based upon the foreperson's report that the jurors had voted unanimously against guilt on those offenses. Id.

The United States Supreme Court held "[t]he foreperson's report was not a final resolution of anything." Id. at 606. "When the foreperson told the court how the jury had voted on each offense, the jury's deliberations had not yet concluded." Id. According to the Court, "[t]he fact that deliberations continued after the report deprive[d] that report of the finality necessary to constitute an acquittal on the murder offenses." Id.

Further, the Court was unconvinced by Blueford's argument that the jury instructions, which told the jurors not to consider a lesser offense unless it had a reasonable doubt as to the greater offense, meant the jurors had not revisited the greater offenses during the extended deliberations. Id. at 606-607. The Court reasoned that "nothing in the instructions prohibited the

jury from reconsidering” its prior votes. Id. at 607. “The jurors were never told that once they had a reasonable doubt, they could not rethink the issue. The jury was free to reconsider a greater offense, even after considering a lesser one.” Id. Due to the possibility that the jurors could revisit their votes on the greater offenses, “the foreperson’s report prior to the end of deliberations lacked the finality necessary to amount to an acquittal on those offenses, quite apart from any requirement that a formal verdict be returned or judgment entered.” Id. at 608.

Appellant’s case is easily distinguished from Blueford. The Blueford jurors were considering only one indictment. While the jurors were instructed to consider lesser-included offenses, the jurors were only concerned with the facts and circumstances surrounding the one indictment for capital murder. Therefore, when the Blueford jurors were instructed to resume deliberations, inevitably, the jurors were re-considering the facts and circumstances surrounding the one indictment for capital murder, including whether Blueford’s conduct constituted capital murder, first-degree murder, manslaughter, or negligent homicide. Here, Appellant’s first jury – just as his second jury – was not consider a single indictment. Instead, the state called Appellant to trial on four separate and distinct indictments, which the judge, and South Carolina law, require the jury to consider separately and distinctly. Unlike in Blueford where the jury was considering the same conduct for the single indictment, Appellant’s jury was considering a variety of sets of facts and circumstances applicable to separate and distinct indictments. See State v. Robinson, 360 S.C. 187, 191, 600 S.E.2d 100, 102 (Ct. App. 2004) (explaining that the jury returned a not guilty verdict on the charge of possession of a firearm during the commission of a crime, but was not unanimous on two other charges resulting in a mistrial only as to those two other charges).

The trial judge erred in failing to bar Appellant’s re-trial on the armed robbery indictment where the first jury acquitted him of the offense. The trial judge placed form above substance

when he required that defense counsel request that the verdict be accepted. He was aware that trial counsel admitted she failed to raise any issue about the acquittal during the first trial, and that any collateral attack on counsel's conduct would be forthcoming. Yet, the judge continued to require that counsel have moved to accept the verdict or the judge to have accepted the verdict in order for the double jeopardy principles to apply. This was error. Appellant respectfully requests this Court reverse the trial judge, vacate his conviction for attempted armed robbery, and hold that any trial on the armed robbery indictment be barred by double jeopardy.

II. The trial judge erred by prohibiting evidence of third party guilt where Appellant identified a specific person as the assailant, the person matched significant details of the assailant provided by witnesses, the person's guilt was inconsistent with Appellant's guilt, the person lived within walking distance of the shooting scene and was found in the area of the shooting within hours of the shooting, and the person's jacket tested positive for gunshot residue.

Standard of review

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