**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**Appeal from Charleston County
J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge**

RECEIVED

Jun 10 2020

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JOSEPH LAMAR BROWN, JR.,

Appellant

Appellate Case No. 2019-000781.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

CAROLINE SCRANTOM
Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina, 29211
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. Appellant’s double jeopardy claim fails as a matter of law because no final verdict was reached as to any charge at Appellant’s first trial, rendering the mistrial a manifest necessity when the when the jury’s final announcement was that it could not reach “a unanimous decision on any of the indictments,” and certifying that Appellant properly faced retrial on all charges as indicted.**

Appellant’s first trial resulted in a mistrial. The record of that proceeding illustrates that the jury was sent to deliberate and returned with a series of notes. (R. pp. 117-19). Next, the presiding judge issued an *Allen* charge¹ which in relevant part instructed the jurors to “lay aside all outside matters and re-examine the questions before you based upon the law and the evidence in this case.” (R. pp. 1120, lines 14-16). Appellant’s first jury returned to the courtroom after further deliberations and the Foreperson announced the jury had “just not been able to come to a unanimous decision on any of the indictments.” (R. pp. 1122, lines 5-7). The trial court declared a mistrial. (R. pp. 1122, lines 8-10).

Appellant’s retrial began five months later. Prior to the jury being sworn, (R. p. 97), Appellant moved to dismiss the armed robbery indictment on the basis that a jury note submitted prior to the *Allen* charge indicated the jury did agree Appellant was not guilty of armed robbery, but were hung as to all the other charges. (R. p. 11, lines 1-7). The trial court denied the motion to dismiss the armed robbery indictment because “the time to have raised that issue was at trial. [I]t was not raised by the court or the Solicitor or the defense counsel,” and no verdict or plea was entered or documented by the trial court. Therefore, the court found no “double jeopardy involved” in the armed robbery indictment called to trial before him. (R p. 93, line 22 – p. 94, line 5).

¹ *Allen v. United States*, 164 U.S. 492, 17 S.Ct. 154 (1896).

The trial court's conclusion aligns with the limitations the United States Supreme Court has placed on the invocation of double jeopardy. "The Double Jeopardy Clauses of the United States and South Carolina Constitutions operate to protect citizens from being twice placed in jeopardy of life or liberty for the same offense." *State v. Brandt*, 393 S.C. 526, 538, 713 S.E.2d 591, 597 (2011); U.S. Const. amend. V; S.C. Const. art. I, § 12. "The Double Jeopardy Clause protects against a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal or conviction, and protects against multiple punishments for the same offense" in successive pleadings. *Stevenson v. State*, 335 S.C. 193, 198, 516 S.E.2d 434, 436 (1999); *State v. Jolly*, 405 S.C. 622, 627, 749 S.E.2d 114, 117 (Ct. App. 2013). "Under the law of double jeopardy, a defendant may not be prosecuted for the same offense after an acquittal, a conviction, or an improvidently granted mistrial." *State v. Coleman*, 365 S.C. 258, 263, 616 S.E.2d 444, 446 (Ct. App. 2005); *State v. Mathis*, 359 S.C. 450, 457, 597 S.E.2d 872, 876 (Ct. App. 2004).

However, "[u]nlike the situation in which the trial has ended in an acquittal or conviction, retrial is not automatically barred when a criminal proceeding is terminated without finally resolving the merits of the charges against the accused." *Arizona v. Washington*, 434 U.S. 497, 505, 98 S.Ct. 824 (1978). "Generally, jeopardy attaches when the jury is sworn and impaneled, unless the defendant consents to the jury's discharge before it reaches a verdict or legal necessity mandates the jury's discharge." *State v. Baum*, 355 S.C. 209, 214, 584 S.E.2d 419, 422 (Ct. App. 2003). A mistrial following a hung jury is one such legal necessity allowing a defendant to face retrial for the same charges. "It is universally recognized that a genuine inability of the jury to reach a unanimous verdict constitutes a manifest necessity for the declaration of a mistrial." *State v. Robinson*, 360 S.C. 187, 193, 600 S.E.2d 100, 103 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing *Oregon v. Kennedy*, 456 U.S. 667, 672, 102 S.Ct. 2083 (1982); 21 Am.Jur.2d *Criminal Law* § 402 (2003)).

Central to Appellant’s case is the explicit holding from *Blueford v. Arkansas*, 566 U.S. 599, 132 S.Ct. 2044, 2047 (2012). As Appellant describes, the jury in that case deliberated on a capital murder charge and three lesser-included offenses. After asking the court what would occur if they could not decide on a verdict, the court issued an *Allen* charge. 566 U.S. at 603, 132 S.Ct. at 2049. The jury returned and, upon inquiry by the court, stated they had reached a unanimous verdict of not guilty as to capital murder and as to first degree murder, but were undecided as to the two remaining lesser charges they had been instructed to consider. *Id.* at 603-04; 132 S.Ct. at 2049. The trial court issued yet another *Allen* instruction and, after more deliberation, the jury returned with the foreperson stating “they had not reached a verdict.” *Id.* at 604, 132 S.Ct. at 2049. “The court declared a mistrial and discharged the jury.” *Id.*

Like Appellant, Blueford moved prior to retrial to dismiss the charges that his first jury reported they had unanimously voted to acquit him of. *Id.* The United States Supreme Court reviewed the Arkansas Supreme Court’s finding that “the foreperson’s report had no effect on the State’s ability to retry Blueford [on all charges], because the foreperson ‘was not making a formal announcement of acquittal’ when she disclosed the jury’s votes.” *Id.* at 604-05, 132 S.Ct. at 2050 (quoting *Blueford v. State*, 2011 Ark. 8, 9, 370 S.W.3d 496, 501 (Ark. 2012)). The *Blueford* court resolved that “[t]he foreperson’s report was not a final resolution of anything” because Blueford’s “jurors in fact went back to the jury room to deliberate further, even after the foreperson had delivered her report.” *Id.* at 606, 132 S.Ct. at 2050. “When they emerged a half hour later, the foreperson stated only that they were unable to reach a verdict. . . . The fact that deliberations continued after the report deprives that report of the finality necessary to constitute an acquittal[.]” *Id.*; see also *Ramos v. Louisiana*, ___ S.Ct. ___, No. 18-5924, 2020 WL 1906545, at *6 (U.S. Apr. 20, 2020) (concluding that the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial,

as incorporated against the States by way of the Fourteenth Amendment, requires a unanimous verdict to convict a defendant of a serious offense), *overruling Apodaca v. Oregon*, 406 U.S. 404, 92 S.Ct. 1628 (1972).

The United States Supreme Court has resolved that jeopardy indeed did not attach to any charge deliberated upon at the first trial, regardless of any interim report from the jury. 566 U.S. at 606, 132 S.Ct. 2050. And Blueford's case is indistinguishable from Appellant's. As in *Blueford*, nothing in the *Allen* charge received by Appellant's first jury prohibited that jury from reconsidering such a vote.² *Id.* at 607, 132 S.Ct. at 2051. Appellant's first jury was instructed to "lay aside all outside matters and re-examine the questions before [them] based upon the law and the evidence in this case." (R. pp. 1120, lines 14-16). The jury was thus encouraged to re-examine all of the charges before them. (*Id.*). After an additional deliberation period, the foreperson then announced the jury had "just not been able to come to a unanimous decision on any of the indictments," and the court declared a mistrial. (R. pp. 1122, lines 5-10). As the *Blueford* Court hypothesized in its Opinion, once one or more jurors begins to reconsider the facts and circumstances before them, then one or more jurors may change their mind as to guilt on any offense for which he or she has already voted. 566 U.S. at 607-08, 132 S.Ct. at 2051. The plain language of *Blueford* is broad enough that it must apply to any additional deliberation by the jury and therefore encompasses Appellant's gamut of charges.

Appellant's argument, like Blueford's, assumes "that the votes reported by the foreperson did not change, even though the jury deliberated further after that report. That assumption is

² Appellant's affidavits carry no weight at this juncture. Rule 606(b), SCRE; *Wertz v. State*, 349 S.C. 291, 296, 562 S.E.2d 654, 657 (2002) ("If a party believes there is confusion in the wording of a jury's verdict, that party should call it to the attention of the trial court at the time the verdict is rendered so that any confusion in the verdict's language can be easily cleared up.").

unjustified, because the reported votes were, for the reasons noted, not final.” *Id.* at 608, 132 S.Ct. at 2052. No court has ever “required a trial court, before declaring a mistrial because of a hung jury, to consider any particular means of breaking the impasse—let alone to consider giving the jury new options for a verdict.” *Id.* at 609, 132 S.Ct. at 2052 (citing *Renico v. Lett*, 559 U.S. 766, 774, 130 S.Ct. 1855, 1863-1864 (2010)). Therefore, as the *Blueford* Court concluded, Appellant’s jury

did not convict [him] of any offense, but it did not acquit him of any either. When the jury was unable to return a verdict, the trial court properly declared a mistrial and discharged the jury. As a consequence, the Double Jeopardy Clause does not stand in the way of a second trial on the same offenses.

Id. at 610, 132 S.Ct. at 2053. Accordingly, Appellant’s second trial court did not err in denying the motion to dismiss the armed robbery indictment. *See Wertz v. State, infra* at n.2.

II. Appellant’s proffered evidence of third party guilt was appropriately excluded from trial because Appellant could establish no more than a partial description match of a person who was merely in the vicinity of the crimes hours after they occurred, and therefore could not establish any train of facts and circumstances casting more than a bare suspicion or raising more than a conjectural inference that the third party was involved in the crimes.

The State moved to suppress Appellant’s proffered introduction of third-party guilt because any evidence regarding the third party, David Felder, raised only a mere suspicion or conjectural inference that he committed the crimes. (R. p. 76, line 12 – p. 80, line 4). The court offered another conclusion supported by the evidence proffered: “there was nothing to verify that [Felder] was responsible, so they didn’t charge him.” (R. p. 73, lines 20-25). The court suppressed the evidence of third party guilt. (R. p. 92, lines 7-25).

A criminal defendant’s right to present evidence in furtherance of his defense “is not unlimited, but rather is subject to reasonable restrictions.” *United States v. Scheffer*, 523 U.S. 303, 308, 118 S.Ct. 1261 (1998). “The exclusion of witness testimony does not violate a defendant’s constitutional right to present evidence so long as the evidence rules are ‘not arbitrary or disproportionate to the purposes they are designed to serve.’” *State v. Burgess*, 391 S.C. 15, 22, 703 S.E.2d 512, 516 (Ct. App. 2010) (quoting *Rock v. Arkansas*, 483 U.S. 44, 56, 107 S.Ct. 2704 (1987)). In order to be admissible, facts offered in support of a third-party guilt defense must “raise a reasonable inference or presumption as to his own innocence; evidence which can have (no) other effect than to cast a bare suspicion upon another, or to raise a conjectural inference as to the commission of the crime by another, is not admissible.” *State v. Gregory*, 198 S.C. 98, 16 S.E.2d 532, 534 (1941) (quoting 16 C.J., Criminal Law § 1085 (1918)) (also citing 22 C.J.S., Criminal Law, § 622); *see also Holmes v. South Carolina*, 547 U.S. 319, 330, 126 S. Ct. 1727, 1734 (2006) (approving South Carolina’s use of the *Gregory* rule).

The evidence proffered in furtherance of third-party guilt must result in a “train of facts and circumstances” that “tends to clearly point out such other person as the guilty party.” *Id.* (quoting 20 Am.Jur., Evidence § 265 (1939)). When the proffered evidence offers no reliable proof that the third party was involved, the court should exclude it. *State v. Swafford*, 375 S.C. 637, 642, 654 S.E.2d 297, 300 (Ct. App. 2007). A defendant’s Sixth Amendment right is not broad enough to permit him “to indulge in conjectural inferences that some other person might have committed the offense for which he is on trial, or by fanciful analogy to say to the jury that someone other than he is more probably guilty.” *State v. Gregory, supra* (quoting 20 Am.Jur., Evidence, *supra*).

Appellant relied upon the following in his motion to introduce evidence of Felder’s third party guilt:

- a. There was no evidence that Appellant and Felder acted together, making Felder’s guilt inconsistent with Appellant’s (R. p. 68, lines 11-24);
- b. Felder met “a lot” of the description one or more witnesses provided law enforcement such that law enforcement approached Felder when they canvassed the area following the crimes because Felder was wearing a jacket with a “23” on the back (R. p. 69, line 1 – p. 70, line 23);
- c. Felder’s dreadlocks matched the hairstyle described by two witnesses (R. p. 72, line 15 – p. 73, line 6);
- d. Felder’s jacket had gunshot residue on one sleeve (R. p. 70, line 21 – p. 71, line 14);

- e. Officers located Felder less than one thousand feet from the incident location and he lived nearby as well (R. p. 73, lines 15-19); and
- f. Felder went “back and forth” about whether he attended court on December 23 as his alibi alluded (R. p. 74, line 2 – p. 75, line 1).

However, vicinity alone does not establish a train of facts and circumstances meeting the standard for the introduction of third party guilt. Another person’s being in the same vicinity as the crimes is not in and of itself inconsistent with the defendant’s guilt. *State v. Williams*, 321 S.C. 327, 335, 468 S.E.2d 626, 631 (1996); *see also State v. Tindall*, 379 S.C. 304, 313, 665 S.E.2d 188, 193 (Ct. App. 2008), *rev’d on other grounds*, 388 S.C. 518, 698 S.E.2d 203 (2010) (evidence that someone other than the defendant was responsible for the crimes deserved only a jury instruction on mere presence, as the evidence raised merely a conjectural inference not meeting the *Gregory* standard). Nor does a partial match to a general physical description given by a witness. *Miller v. State*, 379 S.C. 108, 116, 665 S.E.2d 596, 600 (2008). Such evidence, even when paired with confirmation that the person matching the general physical description was also at home in the same vicinity “on the day in question,” casts nothing more than “a mere bare suspicion” of third party guilt. *State v. Mansfield*, 343 S.C. 66, 85-86, 538 S.E.2d 257, 267 (Ct. App. 2000) (also collecting cases); *contra Miller v. State, supra* at 116-17, 665 S.E.2d at 600 (counsel found ineffective for failing to present evidence of third party guilt that included a description match *and* testimony that the third party admitted to committing three crimes in the same area and with the same car as the defendant, to whom third party was related).

The State argued, and the testimony proffered before the trial court showed, that the evidence regarding Felder failed to establish any reliable proof of a “train of facts and circumstances” tending to clearly point to Felder as a guilty party. As proffered:

- a. The eyewitness to the shooting described the assailant as a black male five-foot-eight to five-foot-ten, “wearing all black clothing, about 170 pounds, with facial cover” of some type. He fled after the shooting. (R. p. 26, lines 1-11).
- b. A neighbor, Celest McBride, observed a person running away from the direction of where the shooting took place and she observed the runner drop a cell phone³ and some money. The runner picked up the money. The neighbor described the runner as “a black male, stone-gray pants, dreads, five-ten to six foot, with medium build.” (R. p. 26, line 15 – p. 28, line 18; R. p. 41, line 5 – p. 42, line 11; R. p. 55, lines 2-25).
- c. Another person, Merit Williams, witnessed a man running in a direction away from the victim’s home. The witness described that person as “a young black male, dark skin, black hoodie with the number 23 on the back of it.” The “23” had different coloring than the black hooded part of the article of clothing. The runner’s shoes were “red Converse” sneakers, which Williams, a former shoe salesman, confidently identified. The runner’s pants were “black warm-up pants.” The runner also had a “skully cap.” (R. p. 29, line 4 – p. 30, line 16; R. p. 43, lines 6-8; R. p. 62, line 16 – p. 65, line 17).
- d. Canvassing the area in which Williams said he saw the runner head, law enforcement noticed “an individual that had dreads, wearing a red-

³ Law enforcement recovered the dropped cell phone and learned it had Appellant’s photo on the lock screen. (R. p. 28, lines 1-14).

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